
    

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

United States of America, ) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Plaintiff, 

vs. Case Number ll-cv-734 

Geneva Terrace Apartments, Inc., and 
Nicolai Quinn 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America alleges: 

1. This action is brought to enforce the Fair Housing Act, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1968, as amended by the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, 42 U.S.c. §§ 3601 

et seq. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 and 

42 U.S.c. §§ 3612(0) and 3614. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) as the claims 

alleged herein arose in the Western District of Wisconsin. 

3. Geneva Terrace Apartments, Inc. owns the Geneva Terrace Apartments, a ninety-six-unit 

apartment complex located at 5400 Mormon Coulee Road, La Crosse, Wisconsin. 

Geneva Terrace Apartments, Inc. offers apartments in that complex for rent. Those 

apartments are dwellings within the meaning of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3602(b). 
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4. Geneva Terrace Apartments, Inc. is a Wisconsin corporation with its pd.llcipal place of 

business in La Crosse, Wisconsin, 

5, Defendant Nicolai Quinn manages fU1d operates the Geneva Terrace Apartments on 

behalf of Geneva Terrace Apartments, Inc" and is responsible for showing and leasing 

dwelling unit':l •. 

6. Geneva Ten8ce Apartments, Inc. has the right to direct and control the actions of its 

agent, Nicolai Quirm, as manager and opel'atol' of the Geneva Terrace Apartments. 

7. Between on 01' about September 1, 2009, and July I, 2010, and while acting with the 

actual 01' appal'ont authol'ity of Geneva Tenace Apruin'lents, Inc, Nicolai Quinn showed 

and offered for rent apartments located in the Geneva Terrace Apartments, 

8. On or about Octobel' 2009, Marcus Young and Brenda Young, a married, AfHcan~ 

American oouple, visited the Geneva Terrace Apartmel1ts to inquire about renting a two~ 

bedroom unit. A sign that said "Now Renting" was on display at the rental offioe for the 

Geneva Terrace Apartments at the time the Youngs visited the property. Nicolai Quitul . 

met the Youngs at tile I'ental office and told them that no two~bedl'Oom units were 

available, 

9, On 01' abollt March 9, 2010~ the Youngs visited the i'ental office at th.e Geneva Tel'race 

Apartments. They met with Nicolai Quinn and inquired whether a two~bedl'Ootn unit was 

available for lease beginning May 1, 2010. Quinn told the Youngs that 110 two-bedroom 

units were available, and that 110ne would be available before August~ 2010, 

1(}, On 01' abolltMarch 10,2010, Nicolai Quinn told Thel'esaBennett, a white woman and an 

acquaintance of Brenda Young, that a two~bedroom unit was available for lease, starting 
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May 1, 2010, at the Geneva Terrace Apartments. On or about the same day ofNicohu 

Quum's conversa:tion with Theresa Belmett, Brenda Young called the l'entaloffioe at the 

Geneva Te~'l'ace Apartments and asked if u two-bedroom wut would be available for lease 

starting May 1, 2010. Nicolai Quitm falsely told her that no units were available. 

11. Aftel'the Ma~ch 10, 2010 conversations described above, Brenda Young and Marcus.· 

Y Ollllg contacted the Metropolitan Milwaukee FaiT Housing COlmcil eMMFHC"), a 

notHfol'-Pl'ofit organization that works to eliminate housing discrimination> and told the 

MMFHC that they believed they had been the viotims of housing discrimination. 

12. In response to tile Youngs' complaint, the MMFHC conducted two tests between April 

2010 and Jime 2011 to evaluate the Defendants' compliance with the Fair I-lousing Act. 

Testing is the simulation of a housing transaction that,compru:es responses given by 

housing providers to different types ofhome~seekers to determine whether illegal 

discrimination is occurring. 

13. During tho first test conducted by the MMFHC, Nicolai Quinn falsely told an 

African"Ame1'ican tester that a dwelling unit at the C'reneva Terl'ace Apartments was not 

available fOl' rent. He told a similarly 'situated white tester~ howevel', that a unit was 

available for rent. 

14. DUling the second test conducted by the MMFHC, Nicolai Quitm falsely told an 

Afi'icall~Amedcall tester that a dwelling unit at the Geneva Terrace Apartments was not 

available f01' rent. He told a similarly situated white tester that a unit' was available for 

rent. 

15. On 01' about Oo1obel' 15,2010, Marous Young and Brenda Young filed a complaint 
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with the United States Depat1ment on-lousing and Urban Development (I-IUD) alleging 

that the Defendants disodminated in violation ofthe Fair Housing Aot on the basis of 

race. 

16. As required by the Fair Housing Act) 42 U.S.C. §§ 36iO(a) and (b)~ the Secretary of 

HUD conducted an investigation of the Youngs' complaint> attempted oonciliation 

without success, and pl'epru:ed a final investigative report. Based on the information 

'gathe~dinhis investigation, the Secretary, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3610(g), detelmilled 

that reasonable cause exists to believe that illegal discdminatol'Y housil1g pracdces had 

occurred. Therefore, on 01' about September 19> 2011> the Secretary issued a 

Detelmination of Reasonable Cause find Charge of Discriminatiol1 pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 361 O(g)~ chat'ging the Defendru-its with disorimination On the basis of moe. 

17. 011 September 26,2011, the Defendants elected to have the claims asserted hi HUD~s 

Charge of Disodmination l'esolved in a fedel'al civil a~tion pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3612(a). 

18. On or about September 26,2011, a I"roD Administrative Law Judge issued a Notice of 

Election and terminated the administtutive proceedings on the HUD complaint filed by 

theFHCSP, 

19. Following the Notice of Election, the Seoretary ofHUD authorized the Attorney General 

to commeliCe a civil action, pursuant to 42 U.S,C. § 3612(0). 
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COUNT~ 

20, Plaintiffl'e"ulleges and incol'pOl'ates by reference the allegations set forth in pamgraphs 1" 

~19, above, 

21. By the conduct set forth above, Defendants Nicolai Quinn and Gelleva Te1'rac.e 

Apartments~ Inc,: 

a; Refused to negotiate for the rental of, or otherwise made una:vailable 01' denied a 

dwelling to a person on the basis of race 01' colol'~ in violation ofSection804(a) 

ofthe Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a); 

b. Discriminated in the terms, conditions; or privileges of; 01' the provision of 

services or facilities in connection with the rental of a dwelling because of race or 

color, in violation of Section 804(b) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U,S,C. 

§ 3604(b); and 

c. Represented because of race 01' color that a dwelling is not available for 

inspection or rental when such dwelling is in fact so available, in violation of 

Section· 804(d) of the Fail' Housing Act, 42 U.S,C, § 3604(d). 

22, Marcus Young and Bl'enda Young have suffered damages as a result of the Defendants' 

disCl'iminatory conduot. 

23, The disoriminatory actions ofD~fendants Nicolai Quinn and Geneva Terraoe 

Apartments, Inc, were intentional,. willful, and taken in disl'e~al'd of the requirements of 

the Fair Housing Act and th«;l tights of Mill'ous Young and Brenda Young and others. 
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COUNT II 

24. Plaintiff r(Nulegcs and incorporates by referencc the allegations set fOl'th in pamgl'aphs 1 h 

-23, above. 

25, The conduot of Defendants Nicolai Quinn and Geneva Terrace Apartments~ Inc. set forth 

above constitute,<~: 

a. . A pattern or practice of resistance to the full el~oyment of lights granted by the 

Fair HOllSitlg Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601-3619; 01' 

. b. A denial to a group of persons of rights' granted-by the Fail' Housing Act, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 3601-3619, whioh denial raises an issue of geneml publio 

impOltance. 

26. In addition to Ma1'CuS Young and Brenda Y0U11g, thel'eal'e othel' victims of the 

Defendants' discriminatory hOUSll1g practices who are "aggrieved persons'~ as defU1ed in 

42 U.S.C. § 3602(1), and who may have suffered injmies as a result of the conduct 

described above. 
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WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the court enter 8n ORDER that: 

1. Declat'es that the conduct of the Defendants, as alleged herein; violates the Fair Housing 

Aot; 

2. Enjoins the Defendants and their officers, employees, agents, successors and all o.ther 

persons in active concert or participation with them, tl'om further: 

a. Refusing to rent} after the making of a bona fide offer, or l'efusing to negotiate for 

the l'enta1 of, 01' otherwise make lmavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person 

because of rac~ or color; 

b, Discriminating agaiJ;tst any person in the terms, conditions, ol'privileges of the 

1'ental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection 

therewith, because of race 01' color; 

c. Disorilninating on the basis of l' ace or color against allY person in any aspect of 

the rel1tal of dwellings, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §3614(d)(1)(A); 

d. Representing to any person because of !'ace or color that allY dwelling is not 

available for inspection, sale or rental when snch dwelling is in fact so available; 

e. Failing or l'efu;sillg to take suoh steps that may be necessw'y to prevent the 

reCurrence of any disoriminatory conduct in the future and to eliminate, to the 

extent practicable, the effects oftlle Defendants' unlawful housing practices; and 

f. Failing 01' ren1Sillg to take such steps that may be necessary to restore persons 

aggrieved by the Defendants' unlawful housing praotices to the position they 

would have been in but for the Defendants' conduct. 
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3. Awards monetary damages, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 3612(0)(3), 3613(c)(1), and 

3614(d)(1)(B), 10 all persons harmed by the defendants' discriminatory practices, 

including Marcus Young and Brenda Young. 

4. Assesses a civil penalty against Defendants Nicolai QUiIUl and Geneva Terrace 

Apartments, Inc., in an amount authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(C) and 28 C.F.R. 

§ 85.3(b)(3), to vindicate the public interest. 

The United States further prays for such additional relief as the interests of justice may require. 

JOI-IN W. V AUDREUIL 
United States' Attorney 

sistant U.S. Attorney 
United States Attomey's Office 
660 West Washington Avenue, Suite 303 
Madison, WI 53703 
Phone: (608) 264~5158 
barbara.oswald@usdoj.gov 
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ERIC H. HOLDER, Jr. 
Attomey General 

~ J: ~-HOMAs E. PERE ~ 
Assist~mt Attorney General 
Civil Rights Division 

~y%~ 
Deputy Chief 
SEAN R. KEVENEY 
Trial Attomey 
Civil Rights Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 PeIUlsylvania Ave., N.W. 
Northwestern Building, 7th Floor 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Ph: (202) 514-4838; Fax: (202) 514-1116 
seal1.r.kevelley@usdoj.gov 
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